IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL ALBERT HERNANDEZ,

Appellant,		
V.	CASE NO). SC07-647
STATE OF FLORIDA,		
Appellee.		
	_/	

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
DAVID A. DAVIS
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 271543
301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(850) 606-8517
davidd@leoncountyfl.gov
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

I. PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

MICHAEL HERNANDEZ, was the defendant in the trial court and will be referred to in this brief as either "appellant," "defendant," or by his proper name.

References to the Record on Appeal will be by the volume number in Arabic numbers, the letter "R," followed by the appropriate page number, all in parentheses. Eg. (3 R 56) References to the trial transcript will be by the volume number in Arabic numbers, the letter "T," followed by the appropriate page number, all in parentheses. Eg. (2 T 34). Similarly, references to the Supplemental Record will be by the letters "SR" followed by the appropriate page number, all in parentheses. Eg. (SR 1142)

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

An Indictment filed in the Circuit Court for Santa Rosa County on December 13, 2004, charged Michael Hernandez with one count of first-degree murder and one count of robbery with a knife (1 R 10-11). Two weeks before trial, the State filed an information charging the defendant with one count of burglary with an assault or battery (1 R 194), which arose from the same incident as the homicide and robbery, and which it also moved consolidate with the indictment (8 R 553). Over defense objection (8 R 535), the court granted the State's request (8 R 538). The State also filed a notice that it intended to seek the death penalty if Hernandez was convicted of first-degree murder (1 R 20).

The defendant or the State filed the following motions relevant to this appeal:

- a. Motion for statement of particulars as to the aggravating factors and theory of prosecution (1 R 86). Denied (1 R 147).
- b. Motion in limine regarding victim impact evidence (1 R 93). Denied (1 R 147).
- c. Motion to dismiss the indictment (1 R 101). Denied (1 R 147).
- d. Motion to suppress statements Hernandez made to the police (1 R 154). Denied (1 R 169).
- e. Motion to require the jury to make a unanimous finding of death (2 R 248). Denied (2 R 264).

the possibility of parole (17 R 2376-78). He entered this plea on the condition that he would testify at Hernandez's trial, but after being sentenced to life he refused to

do so (15 T 1959).

2

¹ Christopher Arnold was charged as a co-defendant with first degree murder (17 R 2376). He eventually pled guilty to it and was sentenced to life in prison without

At some point, Hernandez pled guilty to the charged offenses, and the court accepted the plea (10 R 727-50). He later asked the court to let him withdraw his plea (2 R 229), which the court permitted (2 R 234).

Immediately before trial, the State orally asked the court to shackle Hernandez (SR 1118), which Hernandez objected to (SR 1119). The court, after hearing evidence and argument on the need for restraints, and the least necessary restraints required, ordered Hernandez shackled during trial (SR 1185). It also directed the court administrator take measures it outlined to reduce the likelihood that the jury would notice the defendant in chains (SR 1185-87).

The defendant proceeded to trial before Judge Ronald Swanson, and the jury, after hearing the evidence, law, and argument, found him guilty as charged on all the counts (2 R 323-25).

At the subsequent penalty phase, and after he and the State had presented their evidence and arguments, the jury, by a vote of 11-1, recommended the court sentenced him to death (3 R 419).

The court, following that verdict, did so (3 R 459-79). Justifying that sentence, it found in aggravation:

- A. Hernandez had a previous conviction for a violent felony
- B. The murder was committed during the course of a robbery.
- C. He committed the murder to avoid lawful arrest.
- D. The murder was especially heinous, atrocious, or cruel.

 $(3 R 459-64)^{2}$

In mitigation, it found:

A. Statutory mitigating circumstances.

1. Defendant has no significant history of prior criminal activity. Some weight.

B. Nonstatutory mitigating circumstances.

- 1. He lived in dysfunctional, neglectful, and impoverished childhood circumstances. Some weight.
- 2. He had essentially no family home with anything normal in it; he did not have any regular schooling; his parents were separated and he was bounced from parent to parent, to abusive foster home, and to abandonment. Substantial weight.
- 3. His parents were outlaws, motorcycle gang members, hard drug dealers and abusers, who were under threat of death from the motorcycle gang. Substantial weight.
- 4. His parents introduced Defendant to narcotics at an early age. Substantial weight.
- 5. His mother had many live-in paramours, who were physically, mentally and emotionally abusive to her and to Defendant. Some weight.
- 6. Defendant witnessed physical abuse of mother on many occasions. Some weight.
- 7. Defendant was abandoned by mother on more than several occasions, and placed in foster care, where he was further mentally, physically, and emotionally abused. Substantial weight.
- 8. Defendant's father was overdosed by drugs at the hands of his girlfriend, while Defendant was living with them. Some weight.
- 9. The Defendant was mentally, physically, emotionally, and sexually abused in foster care over a four year period as a preteen/early teen. Some weight.

_

² The court also considered, but rejected the aggravator, "The murder victim was particularly vulnerable due to her advanced age or disability." (3 R 464)

- 10. The Defendant ran away because of the abuse and because his mother would not come to his aid; his mother also told him goodbye, and that she was going to commit suicide. Some weight.
- 11. The Defendant was dysfunctional by this time, and began to live on the streets and continue drug usage. Some weight.
- 12. The Defendant lived with his ½ brother for a period of time, but was subjected to continued drug exposure and use at the hands of his ½ brother's father, Richard Hartman. Some weight.
- 13. The Defendant attended learning disabled classes in school when he attended. Some weight.
- 14. The Defendant was able to marry and supported his family for two years. Some weight.
- 15. The Defendant has been characterized as a loving person, loving father and husband. Some weight.
- 16. The Defendant has a life-long addiction to controlled substances due to his involuntary exposure to them at an early age. Some weight.
- 17. The Defendant was enticed into binging on cocaine at the time of the instant offense by the co-Defendant. No weight.
- 18. The Defendant had been drinking the night before and was still under the influence of alcohol on the morning of the offense. Some weight.
- 19. The offense was unplanned, and was initiated by the Defendant.
- 20. The resulting homicide was a spontaneous, unplanned act. No weight.
- 21. The co-Defendant actually took the property of the deceased in hopes of finding money or means to get money to purchase cocaine. No weight.
- 22. When confronted, the Defendant accepted responsibility for taking part in the offense. Substantial weight.
- 23. The Defendant has continuously shown remorse for his conduct. Slight weight.
- 24. The Defendant has cooperated with the police to resolve the offense. Some weight.
- 25. The Defendant has two documented suicide attempts. Some weight.
- 26. The co-Defendant was offered a life sentence and was equally culpable and actually initiated the entire episode. No weight.

- 27. The Defendant is not worthy of the death penalty for his participation in this crime. No weight.
- 28. Defendant has other mental and cognitive disorders that do not qualify as statutory mitigating circumstances. Some weight.
- 29. Defendant's family members have given sworn and unsworn testimony and provided letters attesting to Defendant's good character. Some weight.

(3 R 463-79)

The court sentenced Hernandez to life in prison for the robbery and burglary convictions, to be served consecutively to the murder sentence (3 R 485).

This appeal follows.

III. STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

1. The murder of Ruth Everette.

In the fall of 2004, Michael Hernandez lived in Tennessee with his wife and two children, ages 2 years and 3 months (8 T 1258). Because hurricanes had hit the Gulf Coast, and seeing an opportunity for work, he and his wife came to Florida where he found a job (8 T 1199-1200), and during October he worked with Richard Hartman, one of his mother's former husbands, and another man, Shawn Arnold (8 T 1194, 1199-1200, 1239).

In coming to this state, Hernandez and his wife had left their children in Tennessee with a friend, but by November 18 they had arranged for a friend to bring them here. The day or night before that, the defendant decided to get drunk "for the last time" because "he didn't want to do wrong" once his family was reunited (17 T 2434). So, he "got a big thing of Jack Daniels and filled up a 32 ounce cup and drank it all night long." (17 T 2434). He also only got about three or four hours sleep (17 T 2434). The next morning, Shawn Arnold showed up at his house to take him to work. Rather than doing that, however, Arnold, a cocaine addict (8 T 1236), suggested they get some cocaine. Hernandez, who had extensive experience with the drug before coming to Florida, agreed (10 T 1546). So, using Arnold's rent money they bought about \$300 worth of crack and quickly went through it (8 T 1189).

Deciding they wanted more, Arnold said they should go to where his supplier, David Everette, lived (7 T 1108, 8 T 1236)³. About 9 a.m. on the morning of November 19 they drove to his house, looking to get some money Arnold claimed Everette might have (10 T 1530).

When they arrived, 67-year-old Ruth Everette, David Everette's mother, came to the door and said her son was not at home (9 T 1376, 10 T 1516). Arnold ordered Hernandez to "grab her," and he did, taking her inside the house (10 T 1516). Arnold followed them, and told her they were not going to hurt her (10 T 1516). He then explained why they had come: Her son owed him \$300, and he had "put a gun to his head the other night" over the money (10 T 1517). Sensing the implied threat to herself, she said she only had about \$20 (10 T 1525). Arnold then asked to use the bathroom, and when he came back, he had a pillow. He put it over her head and began to suffocate her. He told Hernandez to hold her hands, which he did (10 T 1518). After a minute or so, she stopped moving, Hernandez grabbed her head, and her neck cracked after pushing Arnold away (8 T 1235, 10 T 1518). He then gave the defendant a pocket knife he had, and he cut her throat

-

³ At trial, Everette admitted that he and Arnold had smoked cocaine outside his house on several occasions (7 T 1107).

⁴ According Mrs. Hartman, Arnold's mother in law, Arnold told her that after he put the pillow over Ms. Everette's face, Hernandez said she would not die. Arnold took the pillow off and tried to revive her with a baggie to help her breath (8 T 1228). The defendant said he was "a pussy. He couldn't do it." (8 T 1229) Then, according to Mrs. Hartman, Hernandez said the woman was scratching him, would not die, so he snapped her neck (8 T 1230).

from one side to the other because she had seen their faces (8 T 1231, 9 T 1376, 10 T 1518).

Arnold ransacked Ms. Everette's purse, finding only \$40 in cash, and her debit card (8 T 1231, 10 T 1534-35). The two men then drove around town, and, using the card at various cash machines, they took about \$300 in cash (10 T 1539-40). They spent it all on crack cocaine (10 T 1540).

Arnold dropped Hernandez at the latter's home about 4 p.m., and he went inside and waited for his children, which he and wife picked up sometime that night (8 T 1260).

By the next morning, Shawn Arnold, who had been crying "hysterically" (8 T 1202), told his wife what he had done. Shortly, Rick Hartman and his wife went to where Hernandez lived and began to drop hints about what had happened (10 T 1548). The defendant confessed. (10 T 1548). He also told his wife they were leaving, but Mrs. Hartman hit him repeatedly and "told him he wasn't going to leave and leave Shawn and Michelle to go through this." (8 T 1208). She said she was returning to where Arnold lived and then they were going to the police (8 T 1210). Within a short while Hernandez also went there (8 T 1210). They talked with their families about what they had done, during which Hernandez said he would kill Arnold and that Ms. Everette was old and it was "her time to go." (8 T

⁵ While they said they took \$300, it was actually \$500 (8 T 1323).

1175, 1222). The two men considered fleeing, but decided, instead, to turn themselves into the police (10 T 1550-51). "You know, everybody's going to think about leaving. . . There ain't nothing else I can do. I mean, I—I'm guilty. I need to be punished, man. I thought about this all day yesterday. It hurt." (10 T 1551). Hernandez, with his wife and children going with him, drove to the Milton Police Department where he confessed to killing Ruth Everette. Arnold called the police, and they came to his home where he likewise admitted to participating in her murder (8 T 1183).

Ruth Everette died as a result of the broken neck and the 4½ inch cut to her neck, of which either injury could have been fatal (9 T 1377-78). She also had several bruises on her face, arms, and thigh (9 T 1375). In addition, the medical examiner saw evidence of a blunt force injury to her face, which was indicative of smothering (9 T 1422). She had no injuries to her brain or other internal organs (9 T 1376-77).

Shawn Arnold pled guilty to the first-degree murder of Ruth Everette and was sentenced to life in prison without the possibility of probation (17 T 2378).

-

⁶ The knife and Ms. Everette's purse were recovered from a dumpster near where Arnold lived. Rick Hartman had thrown them there (8 T 1224).

⁷ Ms. Arnold, 67, was frailer than would have been expected because she had "some other natural disease processes going on." Specifically, she suffered from emphysema, which meant that she had a "problem getting oxygenated blood throughout her whole body." (9 T 1379)

About a year after his arrest, Hernandez assaulted a jailer with the lid from a toilet. He was convicted of aggravated battery on a law enforcement officer (15 T 2079-80). He also attacked Shawn Arnold while they were in the jail awaiting trial. For that he was convicted of simple battery on a jail detainee (15 T 2052, State's Exhibit 21).

2. Who is Michael Hernandez?

In November 2004, Michael Hernandez was 22 or 23 years old (15 T 2101, 16 T 2159). He was the third child of Cheryl Ann Walker. She married Richard Hartman in the early 1970s (16 T 2153-54), and while the marriage ostensibly lasted 8 or 9 years, they split after about two years. While together they used drugs, especially methamphetamines (16 T 2156).

Being with Hartman meant that she ran with biker gangs, and after their divorce she met Michael Hernandez Sr, a biker (15 T 2157-59). They stayed with their gang for two years during which time their son, Michael Hernandez, Jr, was born. After his birth, his father and mother went into hiding from the bikers because he had fallen out of favor with them, and they had refused to let him and his wife just leave (15 T 2159). Even though the couple were on the run they continued to do "a lot of drinking and drugs," (16 T 2159) and they wandered around the United States in a bread truck until they settled in Arkansas for a couple

of years, and the senior Hernandez got a job (16 T 2160). Nonetheless his wife left him when he went back to "his wild women and drugs." (16 T 2163).

Eventually they split up but both drifted to California where they traded the three- or four-year-old Michael back and forth, continuing all the while to drink heavily and sell drugs, notably "crystal meth," cocaine, and marijuana (16 T 2160 2166-67). Eventually, his mother gave Michael to the Esterbrooks, friends of Hernandez senior, who were also using and selling drugs (16 T 2171). During the two years he stayed with them, they, or at least Mr. Esterbrook, beat the young boy daily (16 T 2202). He also sexually abused the child (15 T 2124).

In time his mother moved in with a Michael Murphy, who came from a wealthy family. They began to talk about marriage, and Cheryl soon decided she wanted her son to live with her again, and when he was about 8 years old, he moved back with her (16 T 2171). The marriage, however, lasted only about two years because like all the other men in her life, Michael Murphy used drugs, and indeed "was an abuser, both of drugs and women." (16 T 2173) As to the violence, Richard Hartman, Hernandez' older brother, said, "It was mainly just hitting, and choking," (15 T 2111) and, indeed, at one point Murphy was jailed for putting a gun in Cheryl's mouth (16 T 2175). "Murphy was a crazy man. He was into every

Q

⁸ Most of this chronology came from Cheryl Walker's testimony given by video tape because she was in prison. It is vague, rambling, and hard to follow because, as she admitted, there were "holes" in her memory from her extensive drug use, and she moved "back and forth, back and forth so much." (16 T 2157, 2169).

drug I believe that's ever known to man. And he constantly used." (16 T 2174)

And he did so in front of Michael Hernandez (16 T 2174). Faced with the daily beatings of their mother, and the constant use of the drugs, the young boy "pretty much got used to it. . . . We'd try and walk away, act like it never happened." (15 T 2112)

Cheryl, however was scared, and she sent her son to live with his father (16 T 2176). This was in the late 80s or early 90s when Michael was "eight or 10, about 10 maybe." (16 T 2179). Michael Hernandez, Sr, however, still used drugs, and one day, while his son lived with him in a motel room, he overdosed on heroin and cocaine and died (16 T 2179).

Michael Junior then returned to live with his mother, who had married Anthony Walker, the man she would eventually murder (15 T 2120, 16 T 2180). Like the other men in her life, he verbally and physically abused her, and her son witnessed him repeatedly choke, beat, and shake her (16 T 2180-81). "[P]retty much my mother got beat up every day. . . . We would come home from school. We would hear screaming and yelling. So, I would take Michael, and we would just walk through the woods, go to sleep hearing it." (15 T 2109) Walker also beat the boy, and one time he hit him so hard in the stomach that the child had to have an appendectomy (16 T 2198). As before, drugs and alcohol permeated the adults'

relationship (16 T 2181), and as before, they had a bohemian lifestyle living in a "little bus, a converted bus. . . . in a friend's yard." (16 T 2182).

In desperation Cheryl again sent her youngest son to live with the Esterbrooks (16 T 2183), and although only 12 when he went there he would never live with her again (16 T 2182-83). The beatings at the Esterbrooks resumed, and at one point Mr. Esterbrook put a dead cat in a hole, poured lime on it, and told Hernandez that if he reported any of the abuse the same would happen to him (16 T 2183-84).

Eventually, Michael ran away (16 T 2185), and the state soon became involved with determining who would have custody of the child. His mother, who had missed critical court hearings, never did, so his grandparents took care of him (16 T 2188). The next time she saw her son was at her murder trial in 1998 when he testified for her (16 T 2190).

Life with the grandparents apparently was better, which is not saying much, because neither Michael Hernandez nor his brothers had received much parental guidance. Instead, they "were pretty much on our own." (15 T 2115) Hernandez also lived with Richard Hartman, his older brother (15 T 2126). By then he was 16

_

⁹ She did visit him once. As she drove away after the visit, he ran after her, but she did not stop, and instead left him with the Esterbrooks (16 T 2187).

¹⁰ A state child case worker said Hernandez had told her "That he was afraid he kept saying 'Why isn't my mother here. Why isn't my mother here? She said she was going to come. I know she would be here. And the only reason she wouldn't come is if he has done something to her." (16 T 2188)

or 17 years old (15 T 2126). Richard, however, had just gotten off drugs himself, and he was too strict with his younger brother (15 T 2129). So, after about a year of living with Richard, he went to stay with his other brother where it was "like a full time party, almost." (15 T 2129-30) Shawn, the older brother, however, soon kicked Michael out of the house, and he was reduced to living on the streets until Richard took him back in (15 T 2130). Some time after that he met and married his wife, and they soon had two children. They lived in Tennessee for about a year before coming to Florida (15 T 2136-37).

As a toddler, Hernandez had extensive exposure to and experience with marijuana and other drugs. His older brother thought it was funny that Michael smoked it while still in diapers and barely able to walk (15 T 2105). He had also started drinking alcohol when he was nine years old and continued until the murder, consuming about a pint each day (16 T 2251). By the time he came to live with Richard Hartman as a teenager he had smoked marijuana, "did speed," and crack cocaine (15 T 2126). He had experimented with LSD and had used other hallucinogens (17 T 2252). He had tried "a variety of pills" including tranquilizers and xanax (16 T 2252). He had also snorted heroin (17 T 2252).

As to crack, he began using it when he was 10 years old (17 T 2251), and by November 2004 he had developed a dependence on marijuana and cocaine, and would later be diagnosed with a polysubstance abuse disorder. That is, he was

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