IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL HERNANDEZ,

Appellant,

V.

CASE NO. SC07-647

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT
OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT
IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF

_BILL MCCOLLUM
ATTORNEY GENERAL

RONALD A. LATHAN, JR.
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0018477
OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050
(850) 414-3300, EXT. 3580
COUNSEL FOR THE STATE

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

ELMORE: And, now, did [Hernandez] say to you - let me ask you this, did you ask [Hernandez] why he killed [Ruth Everett] - why he cut her throat with a knife?

HARTMAN: Because she'd seen their faces.

ELMORE: Were those his words?

HARTMAN: Yes.

ELMORE: Because she'd seen our faces?

HARTMAN: Yeah, their faces.

(TT. Vol. VIII, 1231).

As it pertains to the applicability of the avoid arrest aggravator:

this Court has stated that it will look at whether the victims knew and could identify their killer, but that this fact alone is insufficient to prove the aggravator beyond a reasonable doubt. See *Farina v. State*, 801 So. 2d 44, 54 (Fla. 2001). We have held that the following evidence is also pertinent when reviewing this

aggravator: "[W]hether the defendant used gloves, wore a mask, or made any incriminating statements about witness elimination; whether the victims offered resistance; and whether the victims were confined or were in a position to pose a threat to the defendant." Id.

Nelson v. State, 850 So. 2d 514, 526 (Fla. 2003) (emphasis added).

The trial court's determination was not based simply on the State's theory as to why Everett was murdered. Cf. Buzia v. State, 926 So. 2d 1203, 1209 (Fla. 2006) (observing that "mere speculation on the part of the state that witness elimination was the dominant motive behind the murder will not support the avoid arrest aggravator"). Rather, the record evidences that Hernandez made incriminating statements to Hartman suggesting that he killed Everett because she was able to identify him. The trial court's sentencing order specifically referenced Hartman's testimony as the basis for finding the avoid arrest aggravator applicable (R3 460-61); and, given the trial court's superior vantage point (as it pertained to assessing Hartman's credibility on the witness stand), deference should be accorded to the trial court's findings. See, e.g., Reynolds v. State, 934 So. 2d 1128, 1158 (Fla. 2006) (crediting the testimony of a witness to whom Reynolds' confessed; the witness' testimony supported the applicability of the avoid arrest aggravator; and, as this Court observed, "[t]he trial court [was] in the best position to assess the credibility of a witness, and we are mindful to accord the appropriate deference to the trial court's assessment of this witness' testimony in our review of

whether competent, substantial evidence exists to support this statutory aggravator").

Moreover, even if the avoid arrest aggravator was erroneously found; given the strong aggravators which are unquestionably present - including the Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel (HAC) and prior violent felony aggravators - any error regarding the alleged inapplicability of the avoid arrest aggravator is harmless. See, e.g., Hall v. State, 614 So. 2d 473, 477 n. 2 (Fla. 1993).

Accordingly, this claim of error should be rejected.

V. THE TRIAL COURT APPROPRIATELY FOUND THAT THE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS, OR CRUEL AGGRAVATOR WAS APPLICABLE TO HERNANDEZ'S MURDER OF RUTH EVERETT

Hernandez argues that the Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel (HAC)³ Aggravator should not be found applicable to his crime. Hernandez contends that the evidence presented during the course of his trial does not necessarily support the applicability of the HAC aggravator because the record is inconclusive as to whether Everett was cognizant of her impending death. The State respectfully disagrees with the overview presented by Hernandez.

This Court has plainly recognized, the HAC aggravator is

³The terms incorporating the HAC aggravator, Heinous, Atrocious, or Cruel, are terms of art, wherein "heinous means extremely wicked or shockingly evil; that atrocious means outrageously wicked and vile; and that cruel means designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to, or even enjoyment of, the suffering of others." State v. Dixon, 283 So. 2d 1, 9 (Fla. 1973).

amongst "'the most serious aggravators set out in the statutory sentencing scheme.'" Dessaure v. State, 891 So. 2d 455, 473 (Fla. 2004) (quoting Larkins v. State, 739 So. 2d 90, 95 (Fla. 1999)). And as is well understood, this Court accords deference to the trial court's findings regarding the applicability of an aggravator - provided the findings are supported by the record. See., e.g., Reynolds v. State, 934 So. 2d 1128, 1156 (Fla. 2006). This Court does not simply compare the aggregate total of aggravators and mitigators to determine the appropriateness of a death sentence. See Terry v. State, 668 So. 2d 954, 965 (Fla. 1996); accord Lynch v. State, 841 So. 2d 362, 377 (Fla. 2003). To the contrary, this Court assesses whether the trial court correctly applied the relevant law governing the aggravator, and, whether the trial court's findings as to the particular aggravator were supported by competent substantial evidence. See Alston v. State, 723 So. 2d 148, 160 (Fla. 1998).

This Court has stated the HAC aggravator is applicable to those murders where the victim is tortured, i.e., wherein the perpetrator's actions were so wanton, remorseless, and egregious as to exemplify a seeming "desire to inflict a high degree of pain or utter indifference to or enjoyment of the suffering of another." Guzman v. State, 721 So. 2d 1155, 1159 (Fla. 1998) (citation omitted). Moreover, this Court has also recognized that in order to apply the HAC aggravator, the victim must be cognizant of her

imminent death. Way v. State, 760 So. 2d 903, 919 (Fla. 2000); see also Swafford v. State, 533 So. 2d 270, 277 (Fla. 1988) (observing that the applicability of the HAC aggravator must be assessed from the victim's vantage point "in accordance with a common-sense inference from the circumstances"). Plainly stated, "the HAC aggravator focuses on the means and manner in which death is inflicted and the immediate circumstances surrounding the death."

Brown v. State, 721 So. 2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1998).

Hernandez argues that the HAC aggravator is not applicable. However, given both the testimony of medical examiner, Andrea Minyard, and the substance of Hernandez's confession to law enforcement, the HAC aggravator was appropriately found in this case.

Recall, Minyard believed that Everett could see and hear what was happening to her after her neck was broken; moreover, Minyard opined that she believed Everett was still alive when Hernandez slashed her throat (TT Vol. IX, 1391). Moreover, Hernandez told Detective Jeff Shuler that, in increasingly violent order, first, he attempted to choke Everett, then he broke her neck; and thereafter, he slashed her throat (TT. Vol. X, 1518). In addition, Hernandez's wife, Stephanie, provided that Hernandez stated that he slashed Everett's throat because he wanted to make sure she was dead (Vol XV, 2059).

The testimony of Minyard, and the confession of Hernandez -

as to how Everett died - support the applicability of the HAC aggravator. See, e.g., Frances v. State, 970 So. 2d 806, 816 (Fla. 2007) (finding that based on Frances' confession, and the medical examiner's testimony, competent substantial evidence supported the applicability of HAC aggravator). Additionally, irrespective of whether Everett was felled by having her neck broken, or by having her throat slashed - the HAC aggravator was warranted, given the brutal nature of Everett's murder. See, e.g., Everett v. State, 893 So. 2d 1278, 1288 (Fla. 2004) (upholding HAC aggravator based on underlying grievous facts of murder which included the fact that the defendant "forcefully twist[ed]" the victim's neck until it was broken); Cole v. State, 701 So. 2d 845, 852-53 (Fla. 1997) (upholding HAC aggravator under circumstances where the cause of death were blows to the head and a slashed throat, which ultimately led to extensive blood loss).

Accordingly, the HAC aggravator should be upheld in this case.

VI. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY ALLOWING THE STATE'S MENTAL HEALTH EXPERT TO REMAIN IN THE COURTROOM DURING HERNANDEZ'S PRESENTATION OF MITIGATION EVIDENCE DURING THE PENALTY PHASE

Hernandez asserts that it was improper to allow the State's mental health expert, Dr. Harry McClaren, to sit through the entire penalty phase. Hernandez contends that by permitting McClaren to remain in the courtroom during the entirety of the penalty phase hearing, McClaren's subsequent testimony may have been improperly influenced by the testimony he heard. Hernandez principally

believes that the trial court erred and McClaren should not have been permitted to remain in the courtroom. As such, Hernandez contends the trial court committed reversible error.

Hernandez's argument is entirely without merit. The record demonstrates that, following a bench conference on the matter, the trial court exercised its discretion and permitted Dr. McClaren to remain in the courtroom during the penalty phase (TT. Vol. XV, 2035-36), notwithstanding Hernandez's objection (TT. Vol. XV, 2036).

As such, Hernandez believes he was prejudiced because McClaren was permitted to remain in the courtroom to hear testimony from a litany of witnesses. Among the witness who testified were Deputies Matthew Bartley and John Wade Jarvis, detention officers within the Santa Rosa Jail, who testified as to the extent of Hernandez's violent nature while he was incarcerated. The deputies noted Hernandez violently attacked both detention officers and his codefendant Christopher Arnold while he was incarcerated (TT Vol. XV, 2037-48, 2068-85). Hernandez's mother, Cheryl Ann Walker, testified via a videotaped deposition; Walker testified as to the highly dysfunctional nature of Hernandez's upbringing; and, she described how he was exposed to drugs and violence from an early age (TT Vol. XVI, 2151-2219).

Dr. John Bingham, a mental health counselor who evaluated Hernandez testified as well; Bingham spoke with several members of

Hernandez's family who discussed the dysfunctional and abusive milieu he was brought up in; and, Bingham discussed, among other matters, the debilitating effects of Hernandez's crack cocaine addiction (TT Vol. XVI, 2224-2304). Moreover, Dr. Brett Wayne Turner, a neuropsychologist who evaluated Hernandez testified; Turner noted that Hernandez had a history of substance abuse and depression; Turner noted that Hernandez self-medicated with cocaine; and, that Hernandez was likely suffering from extreme emotional disturbance at the time of the murder (TT Vol. XVI, 2311-74).

Thus, given the foregoing testimony presented during the penalty phase, it is certainly difficult to say that the trial court abused its discretion by allowing Dr. McClaren to remain in the courtroom. McClaren testified that he interviewed Hernandez, and administered various psychological tests (TT Vol. XVII, 2412). McClaren noted that Hernandez's IQ on the WAIS-III was 89 (TT. Vol XVII, 2432); and, McClaren diagnosed Hernandez with: 1) post-traumatic stress disorder, 2) antisocial personality disorder, and 3) borderline personality disorder (TT. Vol XVII, 2446-48).

Hernandez has not identified the harm that occurred by having McClaren present in the courtroom subsequent to his own testimony behalf of the State. See, e.g., West v. State, 6 So. 2d 7 (Fla. 1942) (determining that the trial court did not abuse its discretion by allowing several witnesses to remain in the courtroom

preceding these same witnesses subsequent testimony on behalf of the State). In addition, Hernandez has not remotely made a showing that McClaren's testimony was altered via any information he may have gleaned by remaining in the courtroom. See, e.g., Spencer v. State, 133 So. 2d 729, 731 (Fla. 1961) ("Unless a trial judge can be said to have abused the discretion which is his to exercise in such situations, then his judgment will not be disturbed. The burden is on the complaining party to demonstrate an abuse of discretion with resultant injury.").

Accordingly, because no showing has been made suggesting that the trial court abuse its discretion, nor that Hernandez was harmed, this claim of error should be rejected.

VII. THE TRIAL COURT CORRECTLY DENIED HERNANDEZ'S MOTION TO DISMISS THE INDICTMENT NOTWITHSTANDING THE FACT THAT THE INDICTMENT DID NOT CONTAIN THE AGGRAVATING FACTORS WHICH WOULD SUPPORT IMPOSITION OF THE DEATH PENALTY

Hernandez contends that the trial court erred when it denied his motion to dismiss his indictment — an argument he implicitly bases on — but does not cite — United States Supreme Court precedent. Similarly, he relies on cases which he believes stand for the proposition that Florida's capital litigation jurisprudence should mandate that the aggravating factors present in a capital case, must be alleged in the indictment, and must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. See, e.g., Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584 (2002) (holding that a capital defendant must have any fact which

increases his sentence beyond the statutory maximum proven before a jury beyond a reasonable doubt). Additionally, Hernandez asks this Court to recede from its opinion in *Coday v. State*, 946 So. 988, 1006 (Fla. 2006) (observing, *inter alia*, that "Coday claims that the failure to allege the aggravating circumstances in the indictment renders his sentence unconstitutional under *Ring*. This Court has rejected similar claims that *Ring* requires aggravating circumstances be alleged in the indictment.") (collecting cases).

Hernandez's contention is without merit, given that the foregoing argument - that aggravators should be included in the indictment - has long been rejected by this Court. See, e.g., Bowles v. State, 2008 Fla. LEXIS 214, at *24-25 n. 5 (Fla. February 14, 2008) (noting that the federal constitution does not require that aggravating circumstances be proven in the indictment); Elledge v. State, 911 So. 2d 57,80 (Fla. 2005) ("this Court has rejected constitutional challenges to the State's failure to list aggravating factors in the indictment"); Brown v. Moore, 800 So. 2d 223, 225 (Fla. 2001) (rejecting argument that the aggravating factors must be alleged in the indictment); Mann v. Moore, 794 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 2001) (noting that argument that aggravators must be alleged in the indictment are "routinely" rejected); see also Sireci v. State, 399 So. 2d 964 (Fla. 1981).

Accordingly, this claim of error should be rejected.

VIII. THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR BY PERMITTING THE JURY TO HEAR A JURY INSTRUCTION REGARDING VICTIM IMPACT EVIDENCE; THE INSTRUCTION CHALLENGED BY HERNANDEZ HAS LONG BEEN UPHELD BY THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

Fla. Stat. §921.141(7) provides that once the prosecution provides evidentiary support for a statutory aggravator:

[T]he prosecution may [then] introduce, and subsequently argue, victim impact evidence to the jury. Such evidence shall be designed to demonstrate the victim's uniqueness as an individual, human being and the resultant loss to the community's members by the victim's death. Characterizations and opinions about the crime, the defendant, and the appropriate sentence shall not permitted as part of victim impact evidence.

Notwithstanding \$921.141(7), Hernandez contends that the following jury instruction was improper:

Ladies and gentlemen, you've heard evidence that concerns the uniqueness of Ruth Winslow Everett as an individual human being and the result and loss to the community's members by Ruth Winslow Everett's death. Family members are unique to each other by reason of their relationship and role each has in the family. A loss to the family is a loss to both the community of the family and to the larger community outside of the family.

While such evidence is not to be considered in

While such evidence is not to be considered in establishing either an aggravating circumstance or a mitigating circumstance, you may still consider it evidence in this case.

(TT. Vol XV, 2034-35).

The victim impact instruction was objected to prior to being read to the jury (TT. Vol XIV, 1863-64); consequently, this issue is not procedurally barred. *Cf. Nelson v. State*, 850 So. 2d 514, 525 (Fla. 2003) (recognizing that failing to object to a jury instruction will render a subsequent appellate challenge to the

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